
- 1 - 

 

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 

WEDNESDAY 19TH FEBRUARY 2025 

AT 1.00 P.M. 

 

COMMITTEE ROOM 2 - PARKSIDE 

 

MEMBERS: Councillors K.J. May (Leader), S. J. Baxter (Deputy Leader), 

S. R. Colella, B. McEldowney, K. Taylor, S. A. Webb and 

P. J. Whittaker 

 

AGENDA 

 

1. To receive apologies for absence  

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other 

Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm 

the nature of those interests. 

 

3. To consider a verbal update on the Meetings of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board due to take place on 17th February 2025 and Finance and 

Budget Working Group due to take place on 18th February 2025.  

 

4. Local Development Scheme (Pages 7 - 20) 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board are due to pre-scrutinise this report at its 

meeting on 17th February 2025. Any recommendations as a result of this pre-

scrutiny will be published in a supplementary pack and be tabled at the 

meeting. 

 

 

.           Public Document Pack           .



- 2 - 

5. Council Tax Resolutions (Report to Follow)  

 

This report will be published in a supplementary papers pack to this agenda. 

 

This report is due to be pre-scrutinised at a meeting of the Finance and 

Budget Working Group scheduled to take place on 18th February 2025 prior to 

its consideration at this Cabinet meeting. Any recommendations arising from 

that meeting will be reported for Cabinet’s consideration in a supplementary 

papers pack. 

 

6. Medium Term Financial Plan - Tranche 2 Budget including Fees and 

Charges (following consultation) (Pages 21 - 46) 

 

Included in this agenda is the covering report which will have been considered 

already at the Cabinet meeting due to be held on 12th February 2025. As only 

Appendix A to the report has not previously been considered by Cabinet only 

the covering report and Appendix A will be made available to discuss at this 

meeting of Cabinet. The rest of the appendices have not changed and are 

therefore not due to be debated at this Cabinet meeting. 

 

The Medium-Term Financial Plan - Tranche 2 Budget including Fees and 

Charges report has been subject to public consultation. Any feedback arising 

from that consultation process will be presented for Cabinet Members’ 

consideration at the meeting. 

 

Appendix A to this report will follow in a supplementary pack to this agenda for 

this meeting. 

 

This report is due to be pre-scrutinised at a meeting of the Finance and 

Budget Working Group prior to its consideration at this Cabinet meeting. Any 

recommendations arising from that meeting will be reported for Cabinet’s 

consideration in a supplementary papers pack. 

 

7. To consider any urgent business, details of which have been notified to 

the Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and Procurement Services 

prior to the commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by 

reason of special circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature 

that it cannot wait until the next meeting  

 



- 3 - 

8. To consider, and if considered appropriate, to pass the following 

resolution to exclude the public from the meeting during the 

consideration of item(s) of business containing exempt information:-  

 

"RESOLVED: that under Section 100 I of the Local Government Act 1972, as 

amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of 

the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they involve(s) the 

likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A to 

the Act, as amended, the relevant paragraph of that part, in each case, being 

as set out below, and that it is in the public interest to do so:- 

 

Item No. Paragraph(s) 

9 3 

 

9. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 

held on 12th February 2025  

 

At the time of publication, the Cabinet meeting due to be held on 12th February 

2025 had not yet taken place. Therefore, the minutes from this meeting will be 

published in a supplementary papers pack to this agenda. 

 

 

 

  

Sue Hanley 

Chief Executive  

Parkside 

Market Street 

BROMSGROVE 

Worcestershire 

B61 8DA 

 

11th February 2025 

 



- 4 - 

 

 

If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact  

Jo Gresham 

 

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA 

Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext: 3031 

Email: joanne.gresham@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 

  

 

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE 

MEETINGS 
 

 

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers, 

please do not hesitate to contact the officer named above. 

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON 

 

Meeting attendees and members of the public are encouraged not to attend a 

Committee if they have if they have common cold symptoms or any of the 

following common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high 

temperature, a new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste. 

 

Notes:  

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council 

might have to move into closed session to consider exempt or 

confidential information.  For agenda items that are exempt, the public 

are excluded.

mailto:joanne.gresham@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


- 5 - 

 

 

 

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC 
 

Access to Information  
 

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of 

press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain 

documents.  Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further 

broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act. 

 

 You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before 

the date of the meeting. 

 You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its 

Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting. 

 You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on 

which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date 

of the meeting.  These are listed at the end of each report. 

 An electronic register stating the names and addresses and 

electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of 

all Committees etc. is available on our website. 

 A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to 

items to be considered in public will be made available to the public 

attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its 

Committees/Boards. 

 You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council 

has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers 

concerned, as detailed in the Council’s Constitution, Scheme of 

Delegation. 

 

You can access the following documents: 

 

 Meeting Agendas 

 Meeting Minutes 

 The Council’s Constitution 

 

at  www.bromsgrove.gov.uk 

 

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL   

 
Cabinet                                      19th February 
2025
  
 

Bromsgrove District Local Plan – Local Development Scheme 
2025 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Kit Taylor 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes  

Relevant Head of Service Ruth Bamford  

Report Author 
Mike Dunphy 

Job Title: Strategic Planning and Conservation 
Manager 
email: m.dunphy@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel: 01527 881325 

Wards Affected All 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted Yes via SPSG 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) Communities which are Safe, Well 
Maintained and Green 

 Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 That Cabinet Recommend to Council that:-  

 
1. Appendix A: Bromsgrove District Council Local Development 

Scheme 2025 is approved as the Council’s programme for 
plan-making, effective as of 19th February 2025 

2. Delegated authority is granted to the Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Licensing and WRS to approve updates to the Local 
Development Scheme as required. 

 
  

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 On the 30th July 2024 the Government published a consultation titled 

‘Proposed reforms to the National Planning Policy Framework and 
other changes to the planning system’. Following this consultation on 
the 12th December 2024 a new version of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) was published.  
 

2.2 The proposed changes to the NPPF and the Council’s response were 
discussed at length at the Council meeting held on the 23rd September 
2024, and prior to this at the Strategic Planning Steering Group (SPSG) 
held on the 29th August. The final changes to the NPPF were also 
discussed at the SPSG on the 23rd January 2025. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL   

 
Cabinet                                      19th February 
2025
  
 

 
2.3 The issues raised by the new NPPF will be addressed through the 

development of the Local Plan, this report only addresses the new 
timetable which is required as a result of the new NPPF.  
 

2.4 The following statement accompanied the publication of the 
NPPF:  ‘areas must commit to timetables for new plans within 12 
weeks of the updated NPPF or ministers will not hesitate to use their 
existing suite of intervention powers to ensure plans are put in place.’  
 

2.5 In order to meet the requirement outlined para 2.4 above, a new Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) has been produced which can be seen at 
appendix A. The LDS is the timetable for the Planning Policies which 
the Council intend to produce. The LDS was also discussed at SPSG 
meeting on the 23rd January 2025.  
 

2.6 The LDS outlines the likely path the Bromsgrove District Local Plan will 
take to adoption. It has been drafted to take into account the 
introduction of a new plan making system later in 2025. With that in 
mind, until the final details of the new system are known, the stages of 
plan making identified for 2026 and beyond are considered by officers 
to be the likely process, these stages may need to be amended at a 
later date. To enable amended versions of the LDS to be approved 
without delay, a delegation to the Cabinet Member has been included 
in the recommendations associated with this report. It is envisaged that 
any new timetables will also be discussed at a SPSG meeting as per 
normal practice. 
 

2.7 The significant element to note on the timetable is the publication of a 
draft plan for wide ranging public and stakeholder consultation in May 
or June this year. The details of the draft plan and also the approach to 
engagement and consultation will be covered in further reports in due 
course. 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   
  
3.1 None at this stage an agreed budget exists to prepare the Local Plan.  
   
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The Local Development Scheme is produced under Section 15 of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). The 
legislation states that Councils must prepare and maintain a Local 
Development Scheme specifying: 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL   

 
Cabinet                                      19th February 
2025
  
 

 the Local Development Documents (LDDs) which are to be 

Development Plan Documents (DPDs); 

 the subject matter and geographical area of each Development 

Plan Document; 

 which Development Plan Documents (if any) are to be prepared 

jointly with one or more other local planning authorities;  

 any matter or area in respect of which the authority has agreed 

(or propose to agree) to the constitution of a joint committee; and, 

 the timetable for the preparation and revision of the Development 

Plan Documents. 

4.2  Endorsing this LDS ensures that the Council meets the requirement of 

the above legislation. 

 
 
5. STRATEGIC PURPOSES - IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose 
 
5.1 The new Bromsgrove District Local Plan, as such will have potential 

implications on all of the Strategic Purposes.  
 

 Run & grow a successful business 

 Work & financial independence 

 Living independent, active & healthy lives 

 Affordable & sustainable homes 

 Communities which are safe well-maintained & green 
 

Further details on those impacts will be outlined when the draft Local 
Plan is considered by members later this year. 

 
Climate Change Implications 

 
5.2 It is not considered that the LDS will have any climate change 

implications. The Bromsgrove District Local Plan will have climate 
change implications and they will be detailed in future reports. 
 

6. OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 There are not considered to be any customer/equality or diversity 

implications.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL   

 
Cabinet                                      19th February 
2025
  
 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 
7.1  A significant risk associated with this report is if the Local Development 

Scheme is not adopted. The Council will not have an up to date timetable 
for plan production as per the requirement stated at para 2.4 above. Not 
having a timetable in place may lead to intervention by the Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

 
7.2  In addition to having a timetable in place, it is also a requirement of the 

MHCLG that plan making needs to continue at pace. To that end, one of 
the changes made as part of the recent reforms it to add clarity to the 
intervention criteria by which MHCLG judge whether to intervene if plan 
making doesn’t progress.  

 
  ‘Decisions on intervention will be taken in line with relevant legal 

tests and should have regard to plan progress and local 
development needs. The Secretary of State may also consider 
other matters that they deem relevant to the case, including sub 
regional or regional or national development needs.’ 

 
7.3  The paragraph above is taken from the Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) and clearly identifies that a plan’s progress, and meeting local 
development needs are going to be considered alongside wider sub 
regional, regional and national development needs when considering 
whether or not to intervene in a local authority’s plan making process. 
Any attempt to delay plan making or not meet identified needs is likely 
to end in intervention. 

 
8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Appendix A: Bromsgrove District Council Local Development Scheme 
February 2025 

 
 
9.  REPORT SIGN OFF 
  

 
Department 
 

 
Name and Job Title 

 
Date 
 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
Cllr Kit Taylor 

 
24th January 

  
Guy Revans / Ruth Bamford 

 
24th January 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL   

 
Cabinet                                      19th February 
2025
  
 

Lead Director / Assistant 
Director 
 

 
Financial Services 
 

 
Peter Carpenter 

 
24th January 

 
Legal Services 
 

 
Claire Felton 

 
24th January 

 
Policy Team (if equalities 
implications apply) 
 

 
N/A 

 

 
Climate Change Officer (if 
climate change 
implications apply) 
 

 
N/A 

 

  
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Bromsgrove Local Development Scheme 2025 

Contents 

Introduction          2 

LDS 2025 – Proposed Development Plan Document     4 

Bromsgrove District Plan        4 

Plan Preparation and Supporting Evidence      4 

Timetable          4 

Figure 1: Bromsgrove District Plan Programme 2025-2028    6 

Table 1 – Summary Profile of Bromsgrove District Plan Review    7 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Introduction 
The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a project plan, which sets out details of key planning policy 

documents which the local authority seeks to produce over the next three years. The LDS outlines 

opportunities for public and stakeholder involvement, as well as periods of evidence gathering and 

plan preparation. A Local Development Scheme is required under Section 15 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011). The legislation states that 

Councils must prepare and maintain a Local Development Scheme specifying: 

• the documents which are to be Local Development Documents (LDDs) and Development Plan 

Documents (DPDs); 

• the subject matter and geographical area of each document; 

• which documents (if any) are to be prepared jointly with one or more other local planning 

authorities;  

• any matter or area in respect of which the authority have agreed (or propose to agree) to the 

constitution of a joint committee; and, 

• the timetable for the preparation and revision of the documents. 

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) states that the LDS must specify (among other 

matters) the documents which, when prepared, will comprise the Local Plan for the area. It must be 

made available publically and kept up-to-date. It is important that local communities and interested 

parties can keep track of progress. Local planning authorities should publish the LDS on their website. 

This Local Development scheme was agreed by the Council on the 19th  of February 2025 

Existing Policy Context 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out how local planning authorities should 

produce planning documents that will guide the development and use of land within a local authority 

area. The NPPF requires each local authority to produce a local plan for its area. 

 

The Bromsgrove District Plan (2011-30) was formally adopted by Bromsgrove District Council in 

January 2017, following an independent examination in public and receipt of the Inspector’s Report 

into the examination of the plan, concluding that the plan was judged to have been found ‘sound’. 

The adoption of the District Plan superseded all policies contained within the previous Bromsgrove 

Local Plan 2004 and became the statutory development plan for the District.  

 

The District Plan comprises: a vision and strategic objectives for the development of the District over 

the course of the plan period; strategic policies including site allocation policies to meet the 

development needs of Bromsgrove and, where relevant, adjacent authorities; and, development 

management policies which guide more detailed development proposals. The adopted plan also 

includes a Key Diagram and Policies Map, representing the policies and proposals in the plan visually. 

 

Under the Localism Act 2011, Neighbourhood Plans can be produced by a Parish Council, or an 

organisation or body designated as a Neighbourhood Forum to provide more detailed guidance on 

specific local issues. Neighbourhood plans are subject to independent examination and a local 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



3 
 

referendum. If ultimately approved by referendum then the Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ and the 

Council must bring the Neighbourhood Plan into force as part of the development plan for the local 

authority. As it is the decision of Parish Councils or Neighbourhood Forums to decide whether to 

produce a Neighbourhood Plan, it is not appropriate for the LDS to specify when or how they will be 

produced.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



4 
 

LDS 2025 – Proposed Development Plan Document 

Bromsgrove District Plan  

The adopted Bromsgrove District Plan (2011-30) provides a spatial strategy specific to the needs of 

Bromsgrove. It contains a set of policies for delivering the overall strategy and identifies strategic 

allocations for development through the production of a policies map. This map illustrates broad 

locations for strategic development and land-use designations.  

This plan is now out of date and is in the process of being replaced with a successor plan. The new 

Bromsgrove District Plan Review will extend to a new time horizon, to approximately 2043 and will 

plan for the new development requirements for that period. Significant progress has been made and 

it is still the aim to progress the new plan to adoption at the earliest opportunity. 

 

Plan Preparation and Supporting Evidence 

Progress on the Plan Review to date has comprised of two separate comprehensive consultation 

periods. 

• September 2018 - Bromsgrove District Plan Review ‘Issues and Options’  

• September 2019 - Bromsgrove District Plan Review ‘Review Update and Further Consultation’ 

and Call for Sites. 

The Call for Sites process has resulted in over 400 possible development sites across Bromsgrove 

District being brought to the Council’s attention and understandably this has increased the time it will 

take to progress to a Preferred Option version of the Plan. As can be seen from the timetable the next 

significant stage is a draft plan consultation which has been timetabled in for publication in May/June 

2025 

Work on the evidence base has also progressed significantly with key pieces of work underway, ready 

to inform the decisions taken when putting together the draft plan. This evidence will be published as 

part on the consultation. 

 

Timetable 

The following chart (Figure 1) indicates the timetable for the production of the new plan. This chart 

identifies the key indicative dates in the process. A further summary profile of the Plan Review is 

contained in Appendix1. This  timetable  has attempted to include  the proposed reforms to the plan 

making process , should these reforms not be enacted in a timely manner or the content of these 

reforms differs from those which have been previously  been published the LDS will  amended to 

reflect the final reforms.

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



5 
 

  

Figure 1: Bromsgrove District Plan Programme 2025-2028 
 

 

 

 

 

M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J
N

o
ti

ce
 o

f 
st

ar
t 

o
f 

p
la

n
 m

ak
in

g 
u

n
d

er
 r

ef
o

rm
ed

 

G
at

ew
ay

 1
 (

A
d

vi
so

ry
)

G
at

ew
ay

 2
 (

A
d

vi
so

ry
)

G
at

ew
ay

 3
 (

St
o

p
/G

o
)

Fi
n

al
is

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 a
d

o
p

ti
o

n

1 

mont

h

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

4 months' notice 23 months 6 months

2025 2026 2027 2028

D
ra

ft
 P

la
n

 C
o

n
su

lt
at

io
n

 

P
u

b
lic

 c
o

n
su

lt
at

io
n

 (
8

 w
ee

ks
)

P
u

b
lic

 c
o

su
lt

at
io

n
 (

6
 w

ee
ks

)

Ex
am

in
at

io
nP

age 17

A
genda Item

 4



6 
 

 

Table 1 – Summary Profile of Bromsgrove District Plan Review 
 

Bromsgrove District Plan Review 

Document 
Details 

Role and Content New plan setting out the vision, spatial 
strategy and core policies for the spatial 
development of the District. Will include 
strategic allocations to accommodate 
Bromsgrove development needs to 
approximately 2043. 
 
A Policies Map will need to accompany 
the BDPR, which will illustrate 
geographically the policies in the plan and 
replace the current Policies Map 
associated with the existing BDP. 

Status Development Plan Document 

Position in chain of conformity General conformity with National 
Planning Policy Framework 

Geographic coverage District wide 

 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



7 
 

 

Contact Details 

Strategic Planning and Conservation Team 

Email: strategicplanning@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 

Telephone: 01527 881325 

Bromsgrove District Council 

Parkside 

Market Street 

Bromsgrove 

B61 8DA 

For further information please visit the Strategic Planning section of the website: 

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/strategicplanning 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4

mailto:strategicplanning@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/strategicplanning


This page is intentionally left blank



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2025/6 TO 2027/8 – Tranche  2 
 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Cllr. Steve Colella, Finance Portfolio Holder 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Debra Goodall 

Report Author Job Title: Assistant Director Finance & Customer Services 
email:Debra.goodall@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel:  

Wards Affected N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) All 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph(s) 3 of Part I 
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 The Council has set its budget in two Tranches this year as it did in the 

2024/5 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) process.  The initial Tranche 
was published in December 2024 and approved initial pressures and 
increases at Council in January.  This second Tranche is being considered 
now that the final Local Government Settlement figures are known. The final 
budget will be approved at Council in February.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet are asked to Recommend to Council that: 

1 The Tranche 2 growth proposals. 
2 The additional funding to the Council as per the final Local Government 

Settlement, including the estimated levels for 2026/7 and 2027/8. 
3 The Tranche 2 savings proposals, including an increase of Council Tax of 

2.99%. 
4 Approve the Commercial and Worcestershire Regulatory Services fee 

increases for 2025/26. 
5 The updated five year Capital Programme 2025/6 to 2029/30 along with its 

ongoing revenue costs. 
6 The levels of Earmarked Reserve being carried forward into future years 

and the setting up of the Property and ERP Reserves.. 
7 The level of General Fund balances following additions from the 2025/6 

MTFP. 
8 Members take account of any feedback from the Tranche 2 consultation 

process undertaken. 
 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

Cabinet note that: 
 

1. Members understand and accept the implications set out in the S151 Officers 
Robustness (S25) Statement of this 2025/26 to 2027/28 Medium Term 
Financial plan in moving the Council to financial sustainability. 

2. The need for accelerated business cases to be worked up to enable upgrades 
of infrastructure to the District for consideration in line with work set out in 
paragraph 3.19 for completion prior to vesting day. 

 
3. Background 

 
 Introduction    
 
3.1 The Council sets a 3-year Medium Term Financial Plan every year, with the 

final Council Tax Resolution being approved by Council in February.  This 
year’s process has been more difficult due to the following factors: 

 

 The starting point from the 2024/5 MTFP is positive with respective neutral 
balances at the starting points for both years. 

 That this is the first budget of a new National Government and will be for 
only 1 year in duration. The Government have indicated that resources are 
tight which has been reflected in the Provisional Local Government 
Settlement in December. 

 The present cost of living crisis which continues to impact our most 
vulnerable residents. 

 Three years accounts (2020/21 to 2022/23) delivered with a “disclaimer 
Opinion” and 2023/24 Accounts also likely to have a similar opinion. In this 
instance, the reason for this will be the limitation of scope imposed by 
statute (not by the local authority). A disclaimer due to the backstop does 
not of itself indicate a local authority failing but the ongoing implications 
are still not clear. 

 The continued uncertainty of the existing movement of the Government to 

funding projects for specific outcomes and the movement of this from a 

bidding process to an “allocations” process. 

 Uncertainty over the final mode of working for the Council and what will be 

required by the new Government, our residents and our Members. 

 Loss of key personnel, present vacancies rates (although only half the 

national average), and staff retention – linked to the Workforce Strategy. 

 Business Rates and Council Tax Income – and associated collection rates 

and reliefs linked to the “cost of living” crisis and C-19 grants working their 

way through our system. 

 Inflation is now moving back to the Government target of 2%. 

As such, it is prudent to split the budget process into two tranches,  
  

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 Having an initial Tranche which seeks to close as much of the deficit as 
possible using information known as at the end of October and seeking 
approval for those savings to be implemented at Council in January, 

 Having a second Tranche after the Christmas break, for which approval 
will be sought in February, that takes account of the Local Government 
Settlement whose final detail will not be known until early January. 

 
3.2 This report will set out: 

 

 The approved Tranche 1 Position including base assumptions. 

 The impact of the Local Government Settlement. 

 Council Priorities 

 Strategic Approach 

 The final Tranche 2 three year balanced budget, including updated 
assumptions. 

 Impact of Tranche 2 on Reserves and Balances. 

 The 5 year Capital Programme. 

 The Risk Assessment 

 The S151 Officers Robustness Statement 

 Consultation Details. 
 
The approved Tranche 1 Position including base assumptions. 
 
3.3 It is important to set out the base assumptions under which the budget is 

constructed. These assumptions can then be stress tested for various 
scenarios to test the robustness of the overall budget. The Tranche 1 base 
assumptions were: 

 

 Council Tax – Figures assume the full 1.99% allowable increase over all 

years of the 3 year MTFP.  The Local plan has housing increases of 457 

and 338 in the first two years of the MTFP.  For prudence, at the moment it 

is assumed that increases of 200 and 150 over these years.  

 Business Rates Increases – business rates assume growth based on 

Pooling with the other Districts and the County Council. 

 New Homes Bonus/Government Grants – It is assumed that levels would 

be the same as previous years. 

 Pension Fund assumptions takes account of the latest triennial valuation 

which was received in September 2022. It was noted that there is a 

significant risk is that the next revaluation will be actioned in 2026 and as 

such the 2026/7 figure could well change pending the outcome of that 

exercise. 

3.4 The following “generic” pressures and savings were included in Tranche 1: 
 

 The Pay Award is increased from 2% to 3% for 25/6.  This would be an 

additional £154k cost. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 Pension Fund Actuarial Triennial Revaluation.  Although the fund 

continues to perform well we are concerned on the reducing numbers of 

live members in the scheme and so have included an amount from 2026/7 

of £200k as a potential risk. 

 Fees and Charges assumed an increase of 2%. However, given 50% of 

fees and charges costs link to staff costs and these possibly will increase 

at 5% for the 2024/5 financial year.  Therefore, to keep pace this this 

increase of costs it is proposed that a 4% increase is made. 

 The largest change however will link to upcoming Waste Requirements. 

The Council is required to implement these proposals from April 2026. The 

impact on Council budgets is significant in terms of both Revenue and 

Capital with an ongoing £950k revenue cost, £95K Capital costs and one 

off implementation costs of £100k. 

 Bromsgrove School loses its Business Rates reliefs as part of the Budget.  

This relief of circa £500k would become part of the collection fund 

calculation with for planning purposes circa 50% coming to the Council 

and 50% going back to the Government. 

 Additional Artrix Costs at £31k a year. 

 Additional inflation of 5% on contract is included at 5% which is £90k.  

 A review has been undertaken of Corporate Budgets (Council 

Tax/Business Rate, Investment Income and Debt) against expected 

numbers and due to a number of factors there is a positive position. 

 The Council had 4% in to cover staff inflation in 2024/5.  This pay award is 

now circa 5% and so this adjustment has also been made in the corporate 

budgets. 

3.5 Departmental changes, due to contract pressures and demographics have 
also been taken into account. These departmental changes result in an 
overall £1.387m revenue pressure in the 2025/6 financial year and then £938k 
by 2027/8.  The overall Tranche 1 Position is summarised in the following Two 
tables, the first taking account of “Corporate” issues, the second then adding 
on the “Departmental” issues. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

  

 
 Table 1 Tranche 1 Position 
 
3.6 At Tranche 1, there is a £1m deficit to be closed which rises to an ongoing 

£1.5m problem in 2027/8.  £1m of this amount from 2026/7 onwards is linked 
to the impact of the changes to Waste Regulations. 

 
The impact of the Local Government Settlement 
 

3.7 The Chancellors Autumn Statement was made on the 30th October had the 
following impacts on Council budgets: 

 A 3.2% real-terms increase in Core Spending Power (CSP) for the whole 
sector in 2025-26.  This will include £1.3b additional grant funding, of 
which at least £600m will be directed to social care.   

 The Budget was silent on council tax referendum limits, but the DCN 
expectation is that referendum principles will stay at 2.99% for districts.  

 £233m new funding for homelessness prevention. This will be in addition 
to the £1.3b grant funding mentioned above. 

 £1b to extend the Household Support Fund and Discretionary Housing 
Payments into 2025-26. 

 £1.1b new funding through implementation of the Extended Producer 
Responsibility scheme for recycling.   

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 Right to Buy: councils will be permanently allowed to retain 100% of 
receipts locally and discount levels will revert to pre-2012 levels from 21st 
November. 

 Business Rates support to the retail, hospitality and Leisure sector, 
although it is not known the route of compensation yet for Councils. 

 A £500m increase to the Affordable Homes Programme in 2025-26. 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund has been extended for 2025-26 at a reduced 
level of £900m, a 40% decrease on the current year. It is not yet clear 
whether this funding will continue. 

 Employer national insurance (NI) contributions will increase by 1.2% to 
15% from April 2025 but councils are expected to be reimbursed for this. 
The impact of this on Bromsgrove if this was not funded is £144k. 

 The National Living Wage will increase by 6.7% to £12.21. Minimum wage 
for 18- to 20-yearolds will increase by 16% to £10 per hour.  

 
3.8 The Provisional Local Government Settlement was made on the 18th 

December 2024.  In that settlement the Councils Core Sending Power is 
unchanged at £13.42m.  However, this zero increase in spending power 
masks a significant change in funding with Councils expected have a 2.99% 
increase in Council Tax to get to that Break Even position, with “Other Grants” 
reducing by a corresponding amount.  As the Council, as other Councils, 
already assume, maximising Council Tax increases in their existing forward 
plans this is settlement with no inflation built in.  This is reflected in the 
following table: 

  

   
2025/6 

 
2024/5 

 
Difference Difference 

   £m  £m  % £m 
Settlement Fund 
Assessment   2.02  1.983  1.9% 0.037 
Assumed Council Tax   9.836  9.499  3.5% 0.337 
Other Grants   1.564  1.937  -19.3% -0.373 

         
Settlement Control 
Totals   13.42  13.419  0.0% 0.001 

 Table 2 Local Government Settlement Figures 
 
3.9 As set out in 3.7 above, the Government have however given specific 

targeted Grant Funding for a number of initiatives.  This funding is single year, 
as Local Government Funding is being significantly changes for the 2026/7 
settlement.  However, the impacts on the Council for this targeted funding is: 

 £700m additional grant funding – Bromsgrove has not received any 
additional Grant Funding. 

 Council Tax in Tranche 2 will be increased from 1.99 to 2.99%.  

 £233m additional Homelessness Prevention Grant.  Bromsgrove has 
received £349k, which is £88k more than in reports discussed and 
approved in December. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 £1.1b new funding through implementation of the Extended Producer 
Responsibility scheme for recycling.  Bromsgrove has received 
£1,004k which is included in the Tranche 2 budget proposals. 

 Right to Buy changes are not applicable for Bromsgrove. 

 Business Rates support to the retail, hospitality and Leisure sector is 
expected to be neutral and Government Funded. 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund has been extended for 2025-26 at a 
reduced level of £900m.  Bromsgrove has received £918k split 
Revenue £748k and Capital £170k. 

 
 3.10 In addition to those items set out above, following the World Climate 

Conference in December there are likely to be ongoing targets in this area. 
Councils have already declared “Climate Emergencies” and have challenging 
carbon reduction targets to deliver by 2030, 2040 and 2050.  At the moment 
plans are within existing budgets, but as we move through the next three-year 
period there will be the requirement for the prioritisation of resources and 
approval of additional funding on a scheme by scheme basis.  These will need 
to be taken account of in future budgets, although a significant part of this 
budget spend will be Capital in nature. 

 
3.11 There are a number of other significant factors in looking at the 24/5 budget 

which are linked to the Local Government Finance Market.  Presently: 

 There are a number of Local Authorities who have now issued S114 

Statements. 

 Although Bromsgrove is now up to date with its accounts, these accounts 

have “Disclaimer Opinions” and it is likely that the Council will receive 

“Disclaimer Opinions” for at least the 23/4 and 24/.5 Accounts. The 

ramifications of these “disclaimer Opinions” on the wider Local 

Government Sector and individual Councils is not clear. There will be circa 

600 of these “Disclaimer Opinions” across English Councils. 

 The Government Devolution Bill and the reorganisation of two tiered areas 

to unitary authorities by the end of this Governments first term.  This will 

have significant impact on Worcestershire Councils. 

 
3.12 Significant Grant levels not set out in 3.9 above are: 

 Housing Benefit Administration Subsidy - £146,878 

 Discretionary Housing Payments - £62,332 

 Discretionary Housing Payments Administration - £11,114 

 New Burdens Funding (UC) £2,770 

 Revenue Support Grant £118,000 

 New Homs Bonus £24,000 

 Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Grant £36,000 

 Funding Floor (formally Funding Guarantee) £1,111,000 

 S31 Grant Funding for Business Rates Subsidy (RHL)  will be base on the 
NNRA1 forms 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 National Insurance Contribution – The Final Local Government Settlement 
on the 3rd February allocated a sum of £0.1m.  This is circa £200k less 
than the Councils requirements and this difference is reflected as an 
additional pressure. 

 

 Housing Benefit Subsidy £11,192,229 (24/5 level – 25/6 level not known) 
 

 Disabled Facilities Grant - £1,285,847 (up from £1,130,316) – Capital 

 Capital DEFA allocation for Food Waste Bins/Vehicles £902,511 - Capital 
 
3.13 As part of the Budget process the following reports have been approved in the 

January 2025 Cycle of meetings: 

 The Council Tax Base for 2025/26. 

 The final Council Tax Support Scheme for 2025/26. 
 

The following reports linked to the budget were updated in the 2024/25 MTFP 
and have not changed since that time: 

 The Discretionary Council Tax Reduction Policy. 

 Council Tax – Empty Homes Discounts and Premiums. 

 Non Domestic Rates – Discretionary Rates Relief Policy. 
 

Council Strategic Priorities 
 

3.14 The Leader and Cabinet, with the support of the Corporate Management Team, 
have updated the Councils Strategic Priorities and these have been approved 
by Council. 

3.15   The final Council Plan provided an overarching vision for the District with the 
four new priorities as follows: 

 Economic Development   

 Housing 

 Environment 

 Infrastructure 

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 

 
3.16 The council’s vision, priorities and themes are connected using a ‘green’ thread:  
  

“A green thread runs through the Council plan. Climate change and carbon 
reduction are key issues within the plan and the relevant measures identified 

to evaluate performance will help the Council to understand both activities and 
progress in this area”. 

 
3.17 Opportunities and Challenges highlighted in the plan include: 
 
 The opportunities include:  

 The location of Bromsgrove for business; with Worcestershire, regionally 
and beyond. 

 The entrepreneurial and community spirit within Bromsgrove District. 

 Keeping businesses in the district when they grow. 

 The amazing natural environment of the district. 

 The creative options provided through new technologies to enhance our 
services and our customers experiences. 

 
The challenges include:  

 The ongoing financial challenge- to both the organisation but also our 
communities and residents through the real pressures presented by cost of 
living and the housing market. 

 Continuing to support those who are most vulnerable, and manage the 
increasing costs. 

 Keeping businesses in the District when they grow. 

 Understanding the different community needs across the district  

 The need for enhanced digital and physical connectivity. 
 
3.18 The council cannot deliver all priorities on its own. In some cases, it can support, 

influence, or work collaboratively with other partner agencies to persuade them 
to take a particular course of action/undertake a particular 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

project. Considerable support and input from partner organisations will be 
needed for priorities to be successfully achieved. 

 
3.19 We talk in the Risk section about the impending Devolution of powers in Local 

Government and the setting up of Unitary Councils in existing 2 tier areas 
before the close of this Parliament.  This will have a significant impact on the 
Council.  In light of this, the Council is reviewing schemes that can be delivered 
and completed within the next three years to ensure that a legacy of a 
sustainable attractive Bromsgrove is transferred on vesting day with 
infrastructure and amenities reflecting stakeholder requirements to make a 
difference to the residents of Bromsgrove’s lives.  Initiatives under review for 
inclusion and approval following updated business cases are: 

 Full funding of the 10 year play strategy agreed by Council in 2024 (only 5 
years are in the present capital programme) including non-Council assets 
set out in that report. 

 Bromsgrove Town Centre public realm – continuation of improvements on 
the high street, Church Street, Mill Lane, Worcester Road.  Resurfacing, 
street furniture and lighting upgrade, and possible acquisitions to deliver 
further regeneration.  C.£2m 

 Rubery – high street design feasibility study to create central plaza/meeting 
space and reconfigure parking – c.£120k. 

 Work in other centres although this will need to link with Parish Councils and 
un-Parished areas who also have responsibilities. 

 Full programmes of litter bin replacement. 

 Investment to upgrade our parks facilities. 

 Investment in a new Depot to reflect differing needs for services and 
vehicles in the future. 

 
Strategic Approach 

 
3.20 The Council has come into the 2025/26 budget process with a number of 

conflicting issues.  These include: 

 An ongoing in year 2024/25 deficit at Q2 of a £344k to close. 

 The requirement to fund future pay award which are circa 50% of costs. 
Over the past 3 years these pay awards have been significantly higher than 
“normal”.  Although nationally agreed, these have not been funded. 

 Increases in Council Tax are limited at 2.99%, which is significantly lower 
than the present rates of inflation. 

 The fact that Local Government Finance will change significantly in the 
2025/6 settlement which is not known at the moment and which is multi year. 

 That over the course of this Parliament all 2 tier areas, such as 
Worcestershire will be converted into Unitary Authorities. 

 
3.21 The next section sets out the Tranche 2 position.  In it the Council moves to a 

considered sustainable position over the 3 year planning period. One 
significant factor that has been taken account of is the fact that Local 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

Government funding will change significantly in 2026/27 and so in this budget 
it is prudent to minimise any savings pending the upcoming funding review.    

 
3.22 The level of reserves and balances presently held suggest that although 

significantly more is held than the suggested 5% recommended level for the 
General Fund, that any calls on this amount for a significant emergency 
situation would reduce levels by possibly 50%. 

 
3.23 The Council must adapt how it operates to take advantage of customer 

requirements, technology, available resources, and the economic and 
environmental conditions to remain a sustainable viable organisation. To 
ensure this happens there will be the need for future investment, efficiencies 
and possibly the requirement to fund redundancy (both from reserves and 
balances). 

 
3.24  As set out later in the Robustness Statement, in compiling Tranche1 of the 

budget, assumptions were based on the best information held then. Issues 
the Council is facing are not unique, they are being faced by almost all 
Councils.  Tranche 2 of the budget has adjusted for any funding that the 
Government will provide but primarily sets out other options to close the 
Tranche 1 deficit,  

 
 

The final Tranche 2 three year balanced budget, including updated 
assumptions 

 
3.25 The Council started Tranche 2 of the Budget with the following financial 

deficits to close:

 

 Table 3 Opening Tranche 2 Position 

3.26 The financial settlement, as set out in paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 above had no 
increase in overall funding and a number of areas of specific targeted funding: 

3.27 The Council has assessed a number of other options to move to what it 
believes is a considered sustainable position over the 3 year planning period.  
This process has the following additional Income 

 Council Tax – The Government expects as part of the Local 
Government Settlement for all Councils to increase Council Tax levels 
by the maximum 2.99%.  The Council assumed a 1.99% increase in 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

Tranche 1 and so this increases that level by £96k to come in line with 
Government expectations 

 Actuarial Changes from 2026.  Following a conversation with the new 
Actuary and the Worcestershire Treasurers at the end of November, 
expectations are now that in the 2026 Triennial Revaluation there will be 
minimal increases.  This saves £150k 

 ERP Funding Allocations – the Council have received £1,004k in ERP 
Funding.  As per the table below, this will be allocated over the three 
year funding period with £250k allocated for specific marketing initiatives 
to move the initiative forward across all sectors. 

 24/25 Salary Adjustment – Now that actual salary increases have been 
allocated for 2024/25 as part of the December payroll, this savings can 
be made  

 Capitalisation of Salaries – The Council should be allocating staff costs 
to capital projects.  It has not done this in the past.  At the moment an 
assumption of a 5% recharge has been made, – this needs to be 
sustainable over time. These capitalisation amount have been added to 
the capital programme. 

 One Off Funding from the Finance Reserve.  There are finance specific 
items in the departmental pressures that are one off in nature. These 
can be funded from the Earmarked Finance Reserve. 

 Departmental Efficiencies – to balance the overall budget, there is the 
requirement for departmental efficiencies to be made.  These are 
highlighted in the following table: 

 Net Savings 

Service Budget £250k 

BDC Regulatory 384 7 

Business Transformation & OD 1,874 36 

Chief Exec 893 17 

Housing and Community Services 1,182 23 

Environmental Services 4,138 80 

Finance & Customer Services 1,442 28 

Legal & Democratic 1,111 21 

Planning and Leisure 1,241 24 

Regeneration and Property 726 14 
   

Totals 12,991 250 
Table 4 – Departmental Efficiencies 

 Savings on the VM Ware Contract – it was expected that this contract 
would have a 10 fold increase with a change of supplier but in December 
we were able to limit the increase to a far smaller increase. 

 
And the following additional costs 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

 Replacement Bins – Bromsgrove are now the only Council in England 
with its type of Bin.  This is limiting the options in the purchasing of the 
Refuse Fleet.  There was a report that went to Cabinet on the 6th January 
setting out the issues. 

 WRS Uplift for Inflation – these are the agreed increases approved at 
the WRS Board in November 2024. 

 Local Government Settlement Costs – these now reflect the changes to 
funding in the 2025/26 Local Government Financial Settlement.  The 
most significant is the £352k reduction in Government Grants. 

 The Sunrise Project - The project focusses on supporting the most 
vulnerable and complex customers often known to organisations for 
repeat and reactive demands and identified as having a high level of 
contact with multiple partner agencies. The expenditure will improve the 
financial sustainability and health and wellbeing of residents, and in 
particular those more vulnerable residents.  The project is tenure blind 
and includes the provision of access to courses to improve employment 
opportunities and quality of life. 

 The Final Local Government Settlement on the 3rd February allocated 
the Council £0.1m for the National Insurance changes.  This is £200k 
less than the Council’s requirements and this difference is shown now 
as a pressure. 

3.28 The net effects of these changes is summarised in the table below.  Overall 
there is a net £167k deficit in 2025/26, increasing to £1030k in 2026/27, before 
reducing to £399k in 2027/28.  This is an overall call on general fund reserves 
of £1,596k.  

 

Year 
2025/6 2026/7 2027/8 

£000 £000 £000 

Position after Departmental Items 1,058 1,834 1,582 

Additional 1% Council Tax -96 -96 -96 

Adjustment for Actuaries figures  -150 -150 

Allocation of ERP Funding from 
Reserve 

 -335 -335 

Updated ERP Adjustment -100 -115 -115 

Salary Adjustment 24/5 -150 -150 -150 

Capitalisation at 2.5% -375 -375 -375 

Capitalisation to 5.00% -375 -375- -375 

Finance Reserve -289   

CMT £250k Efficiencies -250 -250 -250 

VM Ware Contract Savings -120 -120 -120 

ERP Spend on Communications (TBC) 100 100 50 

Replacement Bin Requirements 120 420 420 

WRS Agreed Uplifts 29 29 29 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

Increased Council Tax Budget 26 23 -307 

Reduced Government Grant 352 352 352 

The Sunrise Project 37 38 39 

Further National Insurance requirement 200 200 200 

Updated Totals 167 1,030 399 

    

Additional Grant Allocations       

    

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Revenue 748     

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Capital 169     

    

ERP Allocation - 1 Year only to 
Reserve 

1,004     

Local Plan – Green Belt Reviews 70   

  Table 5 Tranche 2 Position 

3.29 Appendix A sets out the Departmental Budgets. 

 Updated Fees and Charges 

3.30 The Council has commercial rates it charges for its commercial Environmental 
Services Customers.  These are set out in confidential Appendix B. 

3.31  In addition, updated Worcestershire Regulatory Service Charges are set out 
for approval in Appendix C.  These are increased in line with increases in the 
service across the County which are at the 4% level unless set by statute. 

Impact of Tranche 2 on Reserves and Balances 
 
3.32 The existing 24/25 MTFP saw general fund balances at a break even position 

over the three year planning moving the Council towards sustainability.  In the 
2023/24 budget, the Council was prudent and reviewed all its earmarked 
Reserves and reallocated a substantial amount to the General Fund and also 
a newly formed Utilities Reserve due to the significant pressure on budgets in 
that area.  As we have moved into 2024/25 there have been additional 
inflationary pressures linked to significant unfunded nationally agreed staffing 
increases.  This has been partly offset by the Utilities Reserves. Years 2 and 
3 of this reserve are not now required and have been transferred to the 
General Fund to bolster its position. 

 
3.33 The projected 2025/6 to 2027/7 position, at Tranche 1, had £3,050k of 

pressures to mitigate.  This has been mitigated down in Tranche 2 to a 
£1,596k overall pressure over the three years with an ongoing issue of £399k 
a year to resolve in 2027/28 onwards. This is a slightly different approach to 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

the previous two MTFP’s where the Councils have moves to a “sustainable 
position” over the three year period but reflects that fact that Local 
Government will have a new 3 year settlement from the 2026/7 financial year 
and with those allocation methods only being consulted on in the Spring of 
2025.  It would not be prudent to balance the budget by reducing services 
when the new settlement might have those services as a priority area.  

 
3.34 Presently, the General Fund sits at a value of £12.781 (taking account of the 

Tranche 2 position) at the 31st March 2028.  This sum is over 25% of gross 
expenditure and significantly above the 5% benchmark quoted by the 
Government a being a minimum requirement.  If Housing Benefit payments, 
which are passported through the Council are ignored than this percentage 
rises to over 30% of expenditure. 

 
3.35 The Council has now closed its accounts up to the 2022/23 financial year and 

has received “Disclaimer Opinions” for those three years. Because those 
years are now closed there is certainty over the Earmarked Reserve balances 
which at the 31st March 2028 sit at a value of £9.484m. 

3.36 This Earmarked Reserves level of £9.484m assumes that all Ward budgets 
are funded from the Financial Services Reserve.  

3.37 Specific Reserves will be set up for the following purposes 

 £100K for a review of the Property function 

 An ERP Reserve of £1,004K to transfer the grant funding for ERP 
schemes and release it over the three year MTFP period. 

The detailed position in respect of Reserves is set out in Appendix D. 

 
The 5 Year Capital Programme  
 

3.38 The Council over the past number of years has not spent its capital 
programme allocations in year.  A review has been carried out of 

 All schemes that have not started (both from 23/24 and from previous 
years) 

 Schemes that have started  
To assess deliverability and links to revised strategic priorities. 

 
3.39 Present rationale is for any scheme not yet started (unless grant or S106 

funded) to rebid for funds as part of the 2025/26 budget process.  The 
Summary Capital Programme is set out in the following Table: 
 

  Table 6 Summary Capital Programme 
 
3.40 The priority in capital terms is for the Council to spend its grant funding.  It has 

the following: 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 
 

  
 Table 6 Capital Programme 
 

 Levelling Up of £16.1m (£14.5m Grant, £1,6m Council) which now needs 
to be spent by the 30th September 2025 (being the Market Hall Scheme) 

 UK Shared Prosperity Funding of £918k for 2025/26 – which is one year 
only funding. 

 
3.41 Appendix E sets out the present capital programme to be agreed. 
 

3.42 The following are the changes between what was presented in Tranche 1 and 
the present: 

 The items carried forward from 2023/24 to 2024/25 have been fully 
reviewed and updated as part of the Closure of Accounts 2023/24 
process. 

 The requirement of a firewall for Parkside at £9,750 has ben integrated 
into the programme. 

 The requirement for an additional £25k a year for laptops for new 
starters has also been integrated into the programme. 

 The Market Hall redevelopment has been reprofiled and overall shows 
a £1.4m deficit, which presently is being funded by the Council. 

 The requirement to replace the Wheely Bin fleet has been added at a 
cost of £2.2m as per the Cabinet Report of the 6th January 2025. 

 Updated funding for 2025/6 has been added for both UKSPF and DFG 
Budgets. 

 The Government funding for the new Food Waste Service (Vehicles 
and Containers has been added at £902k.  This is still over £500k short 
of our overall requirement. 

 The updated play audit implementation profile from the December 2024 
report has been added – no change was required for the revenue 
funding assumptions. 

 Inclusion of the capitalisation of salaries. 
 
3.43 The significant Council spending continues to be the Fleet Replacement 

Programme although it is slipping into the future as we await the 
Governments final Environment Bill and confirmation of the type of vehicles 
required after 2030. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 
 
3.44 The Council is undertaking a review of all its assets, linked to the requirement 

of Council buildings to be at Level C Energy Efficiency. A report is expected 
early in 2025 setting the Councils fixed asset approach. 

 
3.45 The Capital Programme is very closely linked to the Asset Strategy, Treasury 

Management Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Asset 
Investment Strategy.  These Strategies set out how the Council can invest 
and borrow funds and to whom.  They are set out in Appendices F, G, H and 
I.  These Strategies have been reviewed by the Audit, Standards and 
Governance Committee in January 2024. 

 
The Risk Assessment 

 
3.46 As set out in this Report we are budgeting in a time of extreme uncertainty:   
 

 There having been a change of National Government and this being  
their first year of being the administration since 2010. 

 The 2025/6 Local Government Financial Settlement is only for one year 
and overall have a £352k reduction in central grants. 

 There will be a new financial settlement formula in 2026/7, which will 
be for three years, but the make-up of this settlement formula will only 
start to be consulted on in the spring of 2025. 

 The Government have also announced significant reorganisation of the 
Local Government Sector with Worcestershire which is 2 tier moving to 
a Unitary setup by the end of this Parliament.  At the present time, the 
format of Unitary Councils in Worcestershire is unclear as are the rules 
in relation to use of Reserves and Balances in the intermediate period 
and the obvious impact on the Councils Staff, Members and present 
Stakeholders. 

 The status of Councils with “Disclaimer Opinions” on their accounts. It 
is understood there will be over 500 of these opinions across English 
Councils. 

 The ongoing issue of Funding, with the care element of Local 
Government taking more over the “overall” resource pot on a yearly 
basis leaving less for other services we provide to the public. 

 
3.47 As per the Risk Reports that are reported to Audit, Governance and 

Standards and Committee there are the following specific Risks linked to 
finance:  

 Resolution of the approved budget position. 

 Financial process rectification (in relation to the 2020/21 Accounts and 
subsequent years not being approved – which is close to some sort of 
resolution with the “Disclaimer Opinions”). 

 Decisions made to address financial pressures and implementing new 
projects that are not informed by robust data and evidence. 

 Adequate workforce planning. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 
 
3.48 In addition, in this time of uncertainty the Council will also need to embed a 

new Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Resources, both 
of whom have been appointed in January 2025 and will start after their 
respective notice periods. 

 
3.49 There are the core risks of implementation of any Council financial plan in 

that: 

 Any savings proposal must pass the S151 Officers tests for robustness 
and delivery.  If items are not deliverable or amounts not obtainable, 
they cannot be included. 

 Implementation of savings to time and budget – there must be full 
implementation processes documented to ensure implementation 
within timescales. 

 Non delivery is a high risk - Savings are tracked and reviewed on a 
quarterly basis at the Audit Standards and Governance Committee to 
ensure implementation happens based on the plans and the 
assumptions will become part of the Council’s core processes. 

 Loss of key personnel will be crucial, especially given the impending 
Local Government Reorganisation and mitigation plans will need to be 
drawn up which in themselves will require resources to administer and 
deliver. 

 Change of corporate direction/priorities given the upcoming changes in 
the sector.  

 
The S151 Officers Robustness Statement 
 

3.50 For Tranche 2, the opinion of the Interim Director of Finance is that the risks 
contained in the 2025/26 budget estimates have been minimised as far as is 
possible.  

 
3.51  In the past two years the Council have moved to the delivery of sustainable 

budgets however these have been impacted by three years of Pay Awards far 
in excess to those ever seen in Local Government.  This, given the fact that 
staffing costs are approaching 50% of overall costs, has had a significant 
impact on council budgets over this period leading to in year overspend 
positions and has required subsequent mitigation in following years budgets.  

 
3.52 Although inflation is reducing in the UK, given wider economic events and 

changes in other countries Governments and the move to more nationalistic 
policies it is not clear if inflation in particular will move back to being 
consistently within the Government’s 2% target.  This impacts Council costs 
but also those who have the requirement to use our services. 

 
3.53 Employee budgets are almost 50% of the Council’s costs. Over the past 18 

months there has been a significant move to fill establishment positions.  
However, the Council is still running at levels of vacancy of around 100 

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

against an overall joint establishment of 850 and using considerable agency 
resource to ensure services are maintained. This attracts additional short term 
cost and the Workforce Strategy, implemented in 2023, is starting to mitigate 
this. This is shown in the Councils staff turnover figure being 50% of the 
National average at just over 7%.  However, this remains the most significant 
financial risk to the Council.    

 
3.54 The next most significant financial risk was the fact that that the Council had 

not been able to present its 20/21, 21/22 and 22/23 Accounts for Audit, and 
the possible inaccuracy of opening balances used in budgetary data.  These 
three years have now been completed under the new “backstop” regulations, 
but because of the national audit Issues the Council has received “Disclaimer 
Opinions” for all three years.  There are circa 500 of these opinions for 
English Councils and it is not clear of the implications of this on Councils and 
the wider sector.  What the closure process has highlighted, now it has been 
completed for these years, is that the Council is in a stronger position in terms 
of reserves than was the started position. The 2023/4 Accounts have also 
now been completed and presented for Audit within the new “Backstop” 
requirements. 

 
3.55 The revenue budget and capital programme have been formulated having 

regard to several factors including: 

 Funding Available. 

 Inflation. 

 Risks and Uncertainties. 

 Priorities. 

 Service Pressures. 

 Commercial Opportunities. 

 Operating in a Post C-19 environment. 
  

3.56 The MTFP highlights that the current financial position has moved, following 
the Local Government Settlement, to a position of requiring £1.596m of 
funding from General Fund Reserves over the three year period.  This is a 
departure from the previous two years where the Council has tried to move to 
a more ongoing sustainable position. The reason for this movement in the 
short term is that 

 In year three 2027/28, the ongoing deficit to close going forward is £399k. 

 That the Local Government Financial Settlement methodology will 
significantly change in 2026/27, and it would not be sensible to make 
savings where those services might need to be re-instated. 

 That the general fund will still be at a strong level – at £12.781m after 
allowing for this support which is well above 25% of gross turnover. 

 
3.57 The Council has reviewed the Councils position in line with the CIPFA 

Resilience Index. The data for the resilience index is obtained from the 
Revenue Expenditure and Financing England Outturn Report 2023-24 ('RO 
Forms') and reflects figures submitted by Local Authorities to MHCLG, 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

published on 12 December 2024. The Council in comparison to its nearest 
neighbours and levels of risk: 

 Has lower risk in terms of levels of reserves, interest payable, levels of 
debt, and growth being above the baseline. 

 Has a slightly higher than average fees and charges to Services 
expenditure ratio. 

 
This reflects that fact that the Council has no long terms debt and reasonable 
levels of General Fund and Earmarked Reserves.   With fees and charges, 
these are the only real avenue to revenue increases given the limits on 
Council Tax rises. 

 
3.58 In line with Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, this report of the 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) sets out the robustness of estimates included in 
the budget and the adequacy of the Council’s reserves. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer’s opinion is that the estimates are robust 

 
3.59 Relevant budget holders are responsible for individual budgets and their 

preparation. All estimates are then scrutinised by Financial Services staff and 
the Corporate Management Team prior to submission to Members. 
 

3.60 The two tranche 2025/26 budget process has ensured that all budget 
assumptions have been reviewed and reconsidered by Officers, and then 
Members, through the Finance and Budget Scrutiny Working Group, 
Cabinet and Council. 
 

3.61 The budget has a £1.596m call on General Fund Reserves over the three 
year period but by year 3 does start to move to a more sustainable position. 
More work will need to be done to embed changes to ensure financial 
sustainability is embedded across the organisation, especially with the change 
coming forward for Local Government in terms of Funding and Structure. 

 
 Adequacy of Reserves 
 
3.62 Budget and MFTP proposals forecast the level of General Fund balances 

at £12.781m as at 31st March 2028 which is over five times the 
recommended 5% of net level as set out in the Reserves section. 
 

3.63 The present positive medium term financial position, takes into account the 
updated position in terms of accounts now being closed to the 2023/24 
financial year however the “Disclaimer Opinions” still give the potential of 
possible issues with Opening Balances. It is prudent for the Council to build 
reserves as they are the Council’s single source of funding for business 
change initiatives. 
 

3.64 Further work will be undertaken to ensure that expenditure levels are 
sustainable and matched by income over the medium to long term. Plans are 

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

therefore in place to continue to review budgets and identify and accelerate 
further savings opportunities. 

 
Collection Fund and Precepts 

 
3.65 The Council Tax collection fund is anticipated to be in surplus based on 

December data by £0.595m, which will be distributed amongst the major 
preceptors using the prescribed formulae. The Council’s share of the surplus 
payable as a one-off sum in the following financial year 13% of the total which 
amounts to £76k. 
 

3.66 Worcestershire County Council, Hereford and Worcester Fire Authority and 
the West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner are due to set their precepts 
in the week commencing 3rd February. This will enable the Council to set the 
Council Tax on 19th February 2025. The precepting bodies Council Tax 
requirements will be included in the formal resolutions which will be presented 
to Council on 19th February. 

 
Consultation Details 

 
3.67 The Council has consulted on its Tranche 1 budget.  This budget consultation 

opened on Thu 5 December 2024.  An email invite was sent to the 
Bromsgrove Community Panel.  The survey was also promoted on a variety of 
social media channels. The survey closed at 12noon on Thursday 2 January 
2025. 

 
3.68 The response rate for the community panel was 48%.   There were a total of 

278 valid responses received. 
 
3.69 Question 16 gives the splits of Age Ranges of the people who filled out the 

questionnaire.  The vast majority were over 50. 
 
3.70 The survey asked respondents to rank the three most important services they 

felt the Council should invest in.  These were: 

 Local Economic Development and Employment (47.1% of respondents). 

 Community Safety (44.6.% of respondents). 

 Maintenance of the Landscape and Environment (43.8.% of respondents) 

 
3.71  6 questions had responses well over 50% agreeing or strongly agreeing, and 

only two had responses lower than 50% - these being  

 Do you agree that the Council should invest more in our front-line services 

to cover increases in fuel at a 49.6% approval rate. 

 Do you support fees and charges (this excludes parking) rising by 4% to 

keep them in line with inflation and rising staffing costs at a 40.2% 

approval rate. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 
3.72 The highest approval rating, at 86.2% was the question - Do you agree that 

the Council should invest in economic development in order to support local 
businesses, start-ups, the town and local centres and to prioritise local skills. 

 
3.73 Two further questions were asked on what level of increase to Bromsgrove 

District Council's proportion of Council Tax do you support? 

 61.5% agreed of strongly agreed with a 1.99% increase. 

 This dropped to 45.8% at 2.99%. 

 
3.74 There were 2 free test questions: 

 Please let us know your suggestions for investing in the district to increase 

prosperity and enhance appeal for residents and businesses alike? 

o There were 178 responses to this question. 
o Responses to this question provided many suggestions and 

comments regarding the district. The top three themes were 
Bromsgrove Town Centre, supporting businesses and the 
importance of infrastructure, from roads to public transport. These 
themes had many cross overs, from the impact of traffic, 
encouraging a diverse range of businesses into the town and 
reducing costs to visitors and businesses alike. 

o Suggestions included: 

 Reducing business rates / relief 
 Reducing parking costs 
 Supporting independent retailers 
 Bringing in key major retailers 
 Understanding offer on High Street- too may charity shops, 

cafes, hair & vaping businesses 
 Utilise empty shops- for small businesses, new start-ups, 

housing, community use 
 Improve the market- quality, offer, number of days 
 Make the town vibrant, attractive & distinctive- develop 

attractions, encourage visitors 
 Improve the appearance & maintenance of the high street 
 Improved public transport 
 Support active travel 
 Access grants wherever possible 
 Ensure a district-wide view 

o  

 Please let us know any other comments on the budget or ideas for 

reducing costs or increasing income to ensure Council services remain 

sustainable? 

o There were 118 responses to this questions. 

o Of the responses to this question, the largest category fell into the 

theme of efficiency and value for money. Other themes included 

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

infrastructure, focusing on those in need, ensuring transparency 

and accountability asset utilisation, and the town centre. 

o Suggestions included: 

 Reviewing salaries 
 Ensuring right skills within the council 
 Outsource some functions 
 Explore alternative methods of delivery e.g. co-operatives, 

partnerships 
 Reduce use of consultants 
 Review fees & charges 
 Commercial opportunities e.g. logs, compost or specific 

services 
 Turn off lights / utilise smart sensors 
 Reduce events 
 Promote events better to increase revenue 
 Community use of buildings 
 Energy generation e.g. solar panels in car parks 
 Convert buildings into housing e.g. multi-storey by Asda 
 Increase enforcement fines e.g. fly tipping & littering 
 Support the voluntary sector 
 Reducing business rates / relief 
 Review council tax 
 Better coordination around highways and roadworks 
 

3.75 The consultation spreadsheet sets out the overall summary and a breakdown 
by question is shown as Appendix H. 

 
3.76 Tranche Two of the budget will be consulted on following its publication on the 

4th February.  Any comments will be fed into Cabinet and Council on the 19th 
February 2025.  

 
3.77 The Council will raise awareness of the budget proposals via use of social 

media. 
 
4. IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 Financial implications are set out in Section 3. 
 
 Legal Implications 

 
4.2 A number of statutes governing the provision of services covered by this 

report contain express powers or duties to charge for services.  Where an 
express power to charge does not exist the Council has the power under 
Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 to charge where the activity is 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 

incidental or conducive to or calculated to facilitate the Council’s statutory 
function. 

 
 Service / Operational Implications  

 
4.3 Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that income targets are achieved 

through the Quarterly Finance and Performance Reports to Cabinet and the 
Quarterly Savings Reports to Audit Standards and Governance Committee. 

 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
4.4 The implementation of the revised fees and charges will be notified in 

advance to the customer to ensure that all users are aware of the new 
charges and any concessions available to them. 

 

4.5 Initial Equalities Impact Assessments must be taken where required.  None 
have been required with this budget. 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT    

 
5.1 It is crucial that the Councils sets a balanced budget in order for it to deliver 

sustainable services to its Stakeholders.  There are significant risks in any 
budget and these are set out in sections 3.44 to 3.47.  

 
5.2 There is a risk that if fees and charges are not increased that income levels 

will not be achieved, and the cost of services will increase. This is mitigated 
by managers reviewing their fees and charges annually. 

 
6. APPENDICES 

 
 Appendix A – Budgets by Department 
 Appendix B – Environmental Services Commercial Fees & Charges (Exempt) 
 Appendix C – Worcestershire Regulatory Services Fees & Charges 
 Appendix D – Reserves 
 Appendix E – 5 Year Capital Programme 
 Appendix F – 2025/6 Capital Strategy 
 Appendix G – 2025/6 Treasury Management Strategy 
 Appendix H– 2025/6 MRP Statement 
 Appendix I– 2025/6 Investment Strategy 
 Appendix J – Consultation Breakdown 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
None. 

 
7. KEY 

 
None 

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
CABINET 12th February 2025 
 
 
Appendix A – Budgets by Department 
 
To Follow – being updated for NI changes following Government Advice in 
Final Local Government Settlement on the 3rd February 2025 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Local Development Scheme
	BDC LDS 2025 Version final

	6 Medium Term Financial Plan - Tranche 2 Budget including Fees and Charges (following consultation)

